ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Pickens County

G. Edward Welmaker, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JAN 09 2013

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RICHARD BURTON BEEKMAN,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case No. 2011-196688

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAYNE C. PHILLIPS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in refusing to sever Appellant's charges where: the alleged sexual abuse involved two victims; the offenses do not arise out of a single chain of circumstances and are not provable by the same evidence; and Appellant was prejudiced by its improper influential effect on the jury?

- II. Did the trial court err in admitting alleged prior bad act evidence where the connection between the prior bad act and the crime was nothing more than just a general similarity and the probative value of the evidence was outweighed by its prejudicial effect?

- III. Did the trial court err in refusing to grant a new trial where the cumulative effect of the errors were so prejudicial as to deprive Appellant of a fair trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 15, 2009, Appellant Richard Beekman was indicted by the Pickens County Grand Jury for (1) first degree criminal sexual conduct (CSC) with a minor and (2) lewd act upon a child. R. 372.

On July 25, 2011, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable G. Edward Welmaker and a jury. R. 1. Appellant was represented by John Dejong, and the State was represented by Assistant Solicitor Jenny Barwick. R. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 362, ll. 11-22.

On July 28, 2011, Judge Welmaker sentenced Appellant to (1) thirty years imprisonment for the CSC with a minor conviction and (2) fifteen years imprisonment for the lewd act upon a child conviction. R. 369, ll. 17-23. The sentences were to run consecutively for a total of forty-five years imprisonment. R. 369, ll. 22-23.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Background

Appellant was charged with having committed a lewd act upon his eleven year-old *stepdaughter*, Minor Child 1, based on her allegation that she was sleeping and when she woke up, Appellant was touching her “private area.” R. 57, ll. 2-6; R. 62, l. 14 – 69, l. 25. Appellant was also charged with having committed a sexual battery upon his eight year-old *stepson*, Minor Child 2, based on his allegation that Appellant “stuck his worm in my butt.” R. 121, ll. 5-10; R. 127, l. 21 – 129, l. 15. Minor Child 1 maintained that the sexual abuse occurred on July 7, 2008. R. 62, ll. 14-20. As for Minor Child 2, there was no evidence presented as to when the alleged sexual abuse occurred, except for that Minor Child 2 was eight years old, “[s]o there was eight months where those incidents could have occurred.” R. 285, ll. 21-22; R. 312, l. 10 – 313, l. 18 (emphasis added).

Notably: (1) there is no physical evidence to support Minor Child 1 and Minor Child 2’s allegations; (2) Minor Child 2’s rectal examination “was normal” and showed no signs of penetration; and (3) Minor Child 2 did not claim that he was sexually abused until after he had learned of his sister’s sexual abuse allegation. R. 226, l. 8 – 228, l. 2.

Motion to Sever Charges

Pretrial, defense counsel moved to sever Appellant’s CSC with a minor and lewd act upon a child charges and argued that “it’s prejudicial to try these two cases together.” R. 14, l. 23 – 51, l. 9. Specifically, defense counsel argued that Appellant’s charges do not “arise out of a single chain of circumstances” because the charges involve “*different victims, different times, and . . . different witnesses.*” R. 15, ll. 7 – 17, l. 14 (emphasis added). Defense counsel further emphasized, “[Appellant] is prejudiced where you’re trying two

sexual charges against separate victims.” R. 17, ll. 17-18.

Conversely, the State maintained that Appellant’s charges did arise out of a single chain of circumstances because the allegations are “integrally connected.” R. 18, ll. 1-25. The State also claimed that Appellant would not be prejudiced by joinder of the charges because “even if Your Honor were to divide these trials, what happened to [Minor Child 1] would still come in to the trial through common [scheme] or plan or through res gestae.” R. 19, ll. 6-9. The State further stated that the “defense [theory] is almost definitely going to be mistake or accident for the touching of [Minor Child 1]” and that “[i]f the State can prove to the jury that [Appellant] also touched [Minor Child 2], that seems to nullify any kind of accident or mistake. It proves [Appellant’s] intent as well.” R. 19, ll. 11-15.

Furthermore, the State admitted that “as far as res gestae[:]

[I]f the jury can’t hear about how [Minor Child 2] disclosed, they’re missing a big chunk. *That’s all the evidence the State has in this case is each of the children’s disclos[ures]. We don’t have any physical evidence. All we have is their evidence. That’s the only direct evidence the State has. If you were to take out how the disclosure came about, the jury would miss half the case.*

R. 20, l. 22 – 21, l. 3 (emphasis added).

After reviewing the evidence, the trial court found “that the indictments do arise out of the same chain of circumstances” and “that [the charges] are certainly of the same general nature, as far as the sexual abuse of children[.]” R. 36, l. 20 – 37, l. 4. The trial court also found that joinder of Appellant’s charges would not be unduly prejudicial and based on its findings, the trial court denied defense counsel’s motion to sever Appellant’s charges. R. 37, ll. 5-10.

Prior Bad Acts Objection – Rule 404(b), SCRE

Defense counsel also objected pretrial under Rule 404(b), SCRE, arguing that the video of Minor Child 2’s forensic interview improperly admits allegations of prior bad acts into evidence. R. 4, l. – 6, l. 18. In opposition, the State cited *State v. Clasby*, 385 S.C. 148, 682 S.E.2d 892 (2009), and maintained that the alleged crimes were similar and “establish[ed] a pattern of escalating abuse[.]” R. 7, ll. 22-25.

The trial court subsequently found “that the evidence is relevant” under Rule 401, SCRE. R. 37, ll. 11-22. The trial court also found, “[I]n light of the video that I’ve watch[ed], that [even though] I haven’t heard any testimony, . . . I think that certainly [it] is sufficient for me to decide that [the] evidence establishing these prior acts would be shown by clear and convincing evidence.” R. 38, ll. 9-13. The trial court further found “that the evidence does not substantially outweigh the danger of unfair prejudice to [Appellant]” and “that under [Rules] 401, 404(b), and 403[, SCRE,] that the evidence would be allowed.” R. 38, 14 – 39, l. 11.

At trial, when the State asked Minor Child 2, who is now eleven years-old, “Did [Appellant] ever touch you in any inappropriate ways?” Defense counsel contemporaneously objected and referenced his pretrial argument. R. 123, l. 25 – 124, l. 3. The trial court then “noted and overruled” defense counsel’s objection. R. 124, l. 4. Defense counsel also objected when the State sought to enter the video of Minor Child 2’s forensic interview into evidence. R. 292, ll. 15-19. The trial court overruled defense counsel’s objection and the tape was published to the jury. R. 292, l. 20 – 293, l. 11.

Hearsay Objection – Rule 801(d)(1), SCRE

Furthermore, when the State asked Tina Aiken, the mother of Minor Child 1 and Minor Child 2, “*Do you remember [Minor Child 1] telling you [Appellant] sexually abused her?*” defense counsel objected, arguing that the witness can only “testify as to place, time, opportunity and nothing else.” R. 149, l. 22 – 150, l. 1 (emphasis added). The trial court replied, “All right. Okay. Ask your question again.” R. 150, ll. 4-5. The State then asked, “Do you remember your daughter, [Minor Child 1], disclosing any sexual abuse to you?” and the mother replied, “Yes.” R. 150, ll. 6-8. Two questions later, the State inquired, “Do you remember any kind of incident happening between [Appellant] and [Minor Child 1]?” and the mother stated, “I do not specifically. I’m not clear about what happened because I was in the [hotel] room.”¹ R. 150, ll. 13-16.

Improper Bolstering Objection – Rule 608(a), SCRE

Additionally, after the trial court qualified Shauna Galloway-Williams as an expert in forensic interviewing and child counseling,² she testified that she conducted a forensic interview with Minor Child 1 and Minor Child 2. R. 246, l. 23 – 263, ll. 9; R. 285, ll. 3-11. Outside the presence of the jury, the State asked the trial court, “Am I able to ask about whether her disclosure was compelling in her expert opinion?” R. 280, ll. 5-6. Defense counsel subsequently objected and argued:

¹ Prior to the alleged abuse, Minor Child 1 locked Appellant out of their hotel room while on vacation in Charleston, South Carolina. R. 61, ll. 6-24; R. 150, l. 20 – 151, l. 14.

² Galloway-Williams is the Executive Director of the Julie Valentine Center, which is formerly known as the Greenville Rape Crisis and Child Abuse Center. R. 246, l. 23 – 292, l. 3. Galloway-Williams had also previously been qualified as an expert in forensic interviewing as a licensed professional counselor. R. 247, l. 19 – 250, l. 2.

[N]ow [the State] wants to go on and get the opinion. And I think Your Honor said the magic word here, to say that [the forensic interviewer is] credible. *That is simply . . . witness vouching for the credibility of another witness, Your Honor, and that's improper.*

R. 281, ll. 10-14 (emphasis added). The trial court denied the State's request to ask the forensic interviewer about her finding the Minor Child 2's disclosure compelling. R. 281, l. 15 – 281, l. 9.

Despite the trial court's ruling, the State asked the forensic interviewer, "When [Minor Child 2] made a disclosure . . . Do you have an opinion as to that disclosure?" R. 291, ll. 20-22. The forensic interviewer then testified:

Yes. I described [Minor Child 2's] disclosure as compelling disclosure because he was able to provide both those core and contextual details about what he was describing. He able to say who, what, when, where, how. But he also gave a lot of pretty vivid description about what it felt like. Probably one of the most compelling details that he shared was related to his body positioning, how he was positioned when this incident occurred and how [Appellant] was when he performed this act, as well.

R. 291, l. 23 – 292, l. 6 (emphasis added).

The State then sought to introduce the video of Minor Child 2's forensic interview into evidence, and the trial court subsequently denied defense counsel's objection. R. 292, ll. 15-24. The video of the forensic interview was published to the jury. R. 293, ll. 10-11; State's Exhibit # 5 (video of forensic interview).

Closing Argument

During closing argument, the State directly addressed the credibility of Minor Child 2's testimony:

Why lie? Why would a child want to lie about this? *There is*

no reason a child would want to lie about this. . . . [T]here's certainly no reason for [Minor Child 2] to get up here yesterday and carry on a lie. . . . Why carry it on? Because he's not lying. He had nothing to gain out of this. Nothing.

R. 277, l. 11 – 323, l. 21. The State also addressed the credibility of both Minor Child 1 and

Minor child 2's testimony:

I wouldn't have known how to and to carry it along for this amount of time and be this consistent about the core details of what happened. They've been consistent from day one. They're consistent now. . . . *It's the truth. It was the truth then. It's the truth now.* If they really wanted to make up a lie, wouldn't [Minor 1] have said he raped me? Wouldn't [Minor 2] have been saying that it happened, the penetration happened more than once? . . . You can convict if you believe these children. And setting [Appellant] free would be the same as saying what these children told me was a lie.

R. 279, l. 7 – 325, l. 24 (emphasis added).

Jury Note

After deliberating for approximately one hour, the jury sent out a note requesting to “have a copy of [Minor Child 1's] testimony[.]” R. 310, ll. 20-22. The trial court complied with the jury's request and played the Minor Child 1's testimony to the jury. R. 265, l. 23 – 312, l. 18. The jury deliberated for about three and half more hours before rendering a verdict. R. 313, l. 8 – 316, l. 24.

ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court erred in refusing to sever Appellant's charges where: the alleged sexual abuse involved two victims; the offenses do not arise out of a single chain of circumstances and are not provable by the same evidence; and Appellant was prejudiced by its improper influential effect on the jury.**

“Where the offenses charged in separate indictments are of the same general nature involving connected transactions closely related in kind, place and character, the trial judge has the power, in his discretion, to order the indictments tried together if the defendant's substantive rights would not be prejudiced.”³ *State v. Smith*, 322 S.C. 107, 109, 470 S.E.2d 364, 365 (1996). However, where the offenses are of the same nature, but which do not arise out of a single chain of circumstances and are not provable by the same evidence may not properly be tried together. *See State v. Middleton*, 288 S.C. 21, 23-24, 339 S.E.2d 692, 693 (1986) (holding although prison escapee committed two murders within a few miles of each other and attempted an armed robbery, the trial judge erred in consolidating the charges for one trial where the crimes “did not arise out of a single chain of circumstances, and required different evidence for proof”); *see also State v. Tate*, 286 S.C. 462, 334 S.E.2d 289 (Ct. App. 1985) (finding joint trial on identical but unrelated forgeries violated defendant's right to a fair trial).⁴

In this case, the trial court erred in failing to sever Appellant's CSC with a minor and lewd act upon a child charges because the charges *do not* arise out a single chain of circumstances and Appellant was prejudiced by the improper consolidation of the

³ The elements for consolidation of charges are conjunctive.

⁴ *Cf. State v. Woomeer*, 276 S.C. 258, 277 S.E.2d 696 (1981) (finding it proper to try together all crimes arising from a single uninterrupted crime spree).

charges. R. 36, l. 20 – 37, l. 10; *Smith*, 322 S.C. at 109, 470 S.E.2d at 365. Specifically, defense counsel argued that Appellant’s charges do not arise out of a single chain of circumstances because the charges involve “*different victims, different times, and . . . different witnesses.*” R. 15, ll. 7 – 53, l. 14 (emphasis added). Notably, although Minor Child 1 maintained that the sexual abuse occurred on July 7, 2008, “*there was eight months where those incidents could have occurred*” to Minor Child 2 based on his testimony that he was eight years old when the alleged abuse occurred. R. 62, ll. 14-20; R. 285, ll. 21-22; R. 312, l. 10 – 313, l. 18 (emphasis added). *See Middleton*, 288 S.C. at 23, 339 S.E.2d at 693 (finding the charges “did not arise out of a single chain of circumstances, and required different evidence for proof”).

Furthermore, same as in *Smith*, 322 S.C. at 110, 470 S.E.2d at 365-66, the State erroneously maintained that the charges would have been admissible in a subsequent trial to show a common plan or scheme even if the charges were severed. R. 19, l. 6 – 21, l. 3. *See State v. Lyle*, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923), clear and convincing evidence of other relevant crimes is admissible to prove: (1) motive; (2) intent; (3) absence of mistake or accident; (4) a common scheme or plan that embraces several previous crimes so closely related to each other that proof of one tends to establish the other; or (5) identity. *See Rule 404(b)*, SCRE. Here, the State would not have been able to show a common plan or scheme in a subsequent trial because the connection between the prior bad act and the crime must be more than just a general similarity (sexual abuse: compare touching the outside of a female’s vagina with male anal penetration). *See State v. Stokes*, 279 S.C. 191, 304 S.E.2d 814 (1983) (noting the connection between the prior bad act and the crime must be more than just a general similarity); *see also State v. Rivers*, 273 S.C. 75,

254 S.E.2d 299 (1979).

The Court is also to balance the probative value of the evidence against its prejudicial effect. *See State v. Parker*, 315 S.C. 230, 433 S.E.2d 831 (1993); *see also* Rule 403, SCRE. Defense counsel argued to the trial court, “[Appellant] is prejudiced where you’re trying two sexual charges against separate victims.” R. 17, ll. 17-18. As such, Appellant is prejudiced because the jury could infer Appellant’s propensity for child sexual abuse by allowing the State to bolster its case by stacking the charges together. The prejudicial effect of consolidating Appellant’s sexual abuse charges is obviously higher when: (1) there is no physical evidence to support Minor Child 1 and Minor Child 2’s allegations; (2) Minor Child 2’s rectal examination “was normal” and showed no signs of penetration; and (3) Minor Child 2 did not claim that he was sexually abused until after he had learned of his sister’s sexual abuse allegation. R. 226, l. 8 – 228, l. 2.

Furthermore, the State admitted that it had a weak case against Appellant when it also improperly argued that the charges should be consolidated as *res gestae* of the case:

[I]f the jury can’t hear about how [Minor Child 2] disclosed, they’re missing a big chunk. *That’s all the evidence the State has in this case is each of the children’s disclosures. We don’t have any physical evidence. All we have is their evidence. That’s the only direct evidence the State has. If you were to take out how the disclosure came about, the jury would miss half the case.*

R. 20, l. 22 – 21, l. 3 (emphasis added). Therefore, even if the evidence was admissible under Rule 404(b), SCRE, its prejudicial effect would substantially outweigh any probative value under Rule 403, SCRE.

Accordingly, Appellant’s sexual abuse charges should not have been tried together as they fail to meet the requirements for consolidation of charges, and Appellant

was prejudiced by the trial court's denial of his motion to sever the charges. *See Middleton*, 288 S.C. at 24, 339 S.E.2d at 693 (finding "[i]t is evident the charges against appellant did not arise out of the same transaction") (citing *State v. Whitener*, 238, S.C. 244, 89 S.E.2d 701 (1955)); *see also Smith*, 322 S.C. at 110, 470 S.E.2d at 366 ("Further, under these facts, we hold the prejudicial effect of the ABHAN conviction outweighs its probative value. We find the ABHAN conviction would not be admissible under *Lyle* in a subsequent trial on the homicide.").

II. The trial court erred in admitting alleged prior bad act evidence where the connection between the prior bad act and the crime was nothing more than just a general similarity and the probative value of the evidence was outweighed by its prejudicial effect.

In addition to the Rule 404(b), SCRE, analysis discussed above, this Court "address[ed] the applicability of the motive and intent exceptions of *Lyle* and Rule 404(b), SCRE, in the context of sex crimes" in *State v. Fonseca*, 383 S.C. 640, 681 S.E.2d 1 (Ct. App. 2009), *aff'd*, 393 S.C. 229, 711 S.E.2d 906 (2011). The *Fonseca* Court found that "introduction of the prior bad act under the motive exception provided in *Lyle* and Rule 404 was error" because the defendant's "motive was not made a material issue at trial." *Id.* at 648, 681 S.E.2d at 5. As to the intent exception, the *Fonseca* Court found:

[B]ecause intent is an element of most crimes, if we hold this evidence admissible, prior sexual acts would be admissible to prove the required intent in all prosecutions of subsequent sex crimes. Such is a thin disguise for impermissible character evidence and would undermine the protections of Rule 404.

Id. at 649, 681 S.E.2d at 5. The *Fonseca* Court also addressed the common plan or scheme exception under Rule 404(b), SCRE, and found that the charges were not sufficiently similar in acts and remoteness in time. *Id.* at 649-50, 681 S.E.2d at 5-6.

In this case, Appellant's motive or intent to commit the crimes charged was not made a material issue at trial. *Id.* (finding "[w]ithout motive or intent being a material issue, it is error to admit prior bad acts as evidence of the same in a sexual crime"). As for the common plan or scheme exception, "[t]he State provide[d] no compelling argument of any similarities between the two occurrences, or any argument to overcome the fact that the incidents are remote in time."⁵ *Id.* (internal footnote omitted). Specifically, defense counsel argued, "I don't see how you make the quantum leap from allegations of touching to allegations of anal intercourse." R. 5, ll. 20-22.

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