STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Pickens County
The Honorable G. Edward Welmaker, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2011-196688

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

RICHARD BURTON BEEKMAN,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

CHRISTINA J. CATOE
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 73562

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Id. at 122, 470 S.E.2d at 370-71 (internal quotations omitted).

In this case, the information regarding how, why, and when the siblings disclosed Appellant’s abuse was critical evidence in the State’s case, especially considering that there was a lack of corroborating physical evidence. (See R. p. 18-21). Victim 1 disclosed the abuse to her mother the same day it occurred, and the children were thereafter removed from Appellant’s home because of the abuse of Victim 1. (R. p. 159-61). Subsequently, Victim 2 continued to exhibit strange behaviors consistent with suffering psychological turmoil, but, having been removed from Appellant’s custody and

control due to Victim 1's disclosure, was finally was able to confess Appellant's abuse of him after his sister told him about Appellant's abuse of her. (See R. p. 79-85; p. 131-32; p. 158-166). Thus, under the unique circumstances of this case, the evidence regarding Appellant's abuse of his two stepchildren was "inextricably intertwined." State v. Simmons, 352 S.C. 342, 352, 573 S.E.2d 856, 861 (Ct. App. 2002) (citation omitted); see also Grace, 350 S.C. at 24, 564 S.E.2d at 334 (finding that the lewd act charge was "integrally connected" to the prior charges because it was "the vehicle through which the other charges were discovered"). The circumstances surrounding the children's disclosures were highly probative and provided the jury with information they could use to assess the witnesses' credibility. The information regarding each other sibling's abuse was "relevant to show the complete, whole, unfragmented story" regarding Appellant's abuse of his stepchildren. State v. Rice, 368 S.C. 610, 616, 629 S.E.2d 393, 396 (Ct. App. 2006). Accordingly, Appellant was not prejudiced by consolidation of the charges.

Moreover, Rule 403, SCRE, does not preclude admission of this evidence. In fact, contrary to Appellant's argument on pages 11 and 14 of his Brief, the *probative value* of the evidence, not the prejudicial effect, was enhanced because of the lack of corroborating physical evidence.⁸ State v. Clasby, 385 S.C. 148, 158-59, 682 S.E.2d 892, 898-99 (2009) ("Finally, we hold the probative value of this evidence substantially outweighed the danger of unfair prejudice to Clasby. Given there was *no physical*

⁸ Notably, although Appellant now makes a Rule 403 argument regarding the common scheme or plan evidence on appeal, this argument was not raised below. (See R. p. 14-39). Although Appellant's counsel stated that, "[o]bviously, the Defendant is prejudiced where you're trying two sexual charges against separate victims," this was in the context of the consolidation issue rather than the common scheme or plan issue, and counsel never mentioned Rule 403 or argued that the prejudicial effect of the common scheme or plan evidence substantially outweighed the probative value. (See R. p. 17, lines 17-18; p. 14-39). Accordingly, Appellant's argument on appeal regarding Rule 403 is not preserved for review. (See Brief of Appellant, p. 11; p. 14). See State v. Smith, 391 S.C. 353, 365, 705 S.E.2d 491, 497 (Ct. App. 2011) (where Rule 403 argument was not made below, the issue was not preserved for appellate review).

evidence to corroborate B.C.'s testimony regarding the indicted offenses of CSC with a minor, first degree and lewd act upon a child, we find her testimony of Clasby's sustained illicit conduct was *extremely probative* to establish the charged criminal sexual conduct underlying the offense of lewd act upon a child.”) (emphasis added); see also State v. Wallace, 384 S.C. 428, 435, 683 S.E.2d 275, 278-79 (2009) (the trial judge properly admitted evidence regarding prior incidents of sexual abuse against the victim’s sister where the probative value of this evidence substantially outweighed the danger of unfair prejudice); State v. Stephens, 398 S.C. 314, 319-20, 728 S.E.2d 68, 71 (Ct. App. 2012) (“We review a trial court's decision regarding Rule 403 pursuant to the abuse of discretion standard and are obligated to give great deference to the trial court's judgment. A trial judge's balancing decision under Rule 403 should not be reversed simply because an appellate court believes it would have decided the matter otherwise because of a differing view of the highly subjective factors of the probative value or the prejudice presented by the evidence. If judicial self-restraint is ever desirable, it is when a Rule 403 analysis of a trial court is reviewed by an appellate tribunal.”). Therefore, the trial judge’s Rule 403 determination should not be reversed. (See R. p. 37, lines 5-10).

In conclusion, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by consolidating Appellant’s charges because the charges were of the same general nature involving connected transactions closely related in kind, place, and character, and the consolidation of the charges did not result in any prejudice to Appellant’s substantive rights. The trial judge’s denial of Appellant’s motion to sever should be affirmed. (See R. p. 36-37).

II. Appellant's argument that he is entitled to a new trial based on the cumulative error doctrine is not preserved for appellate review. In any event, the cumulative error doctrine is not applicable to Appellant's case where the alleged errors were not, in fact, errors, but even if they were, they were not, independently or collectively, sufficiently prejudicial that they adversely affected Appellant's right to a fair trial.

Issue Preservation

Appellant now argues that “the trial court erred in refusing to grant a new trial where the cumulative effect of the errors were so prejudicial as to deprive Appellant of a new trial.” (Brief of Appellant, p. 15). However, at trial, the only ground asserted for Appellant's new trial motion was that “the evidence does not substantiate the verdict.” (R. p. 365, lines 3-12). Thus, contrary to Appellant's suggestion on appeal, the trial judge did not “refuse” to grant a new trial based on the cumulative error doctrine because he was never *asked* to grant a new trial on this basis. Accordingly, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. See State v. Quillien, 263 S.C. 87, 97, 207 S.E.2d 814, 819 (1974) (where defense counsel made no motion for new trial in the lower court based on the ground asserted on appeal, the issue was waived); see, e.g., State v. Dickman, 341 S.C. 293, 295, 534 S.E.2d 268, 269 (2000) (a party may not argue one ground at trial and another ground on appeal); State v. Adams, 332 S.C. 139, 144-145, 504 S.E.2d 124, 126-27 (Ct. App. 1998) (argument not preserved for appeal where precise issue was not presented to the trial court).

Argument

In any event, Appellant is not entitled to a new trial based upon the cumulative error doctrine. The cumulative error doctrine provides relief to a party when a combination of errors, insignificant by themselves, have the effect of preventing a party from receiving a fair trial. State v. Johnson, 334 S.C. 78, 93, 512 S.E.2d 795, 803 (1999)

(citation omitted). The party must demonstrate more than error in order to qualify for reversal under the cumulative error doctrine; he must show that the errors adversely affected his right to a fair trial. *Id.* This is because “the Constitution entitles a criminal defendant to a fair trial, not a perfect one.” *Id.* (citing State v. Mitchell, 330 S.C. 189, 199–200, 498 S.E.2d 642, 647–48 (1998)).

Here, as discussed in detail above, the consolidation of Appellant’s charges, and the resulting admission of what Appellant labels the “prior bad acts” of each victim, was not error. *See, e.g., State v. McEachern*, 399 S.C. 125, 149-50, 731 S.E.2d 604, 616-17 (Ct. App. 2012) (because there were no errors in regard to the other issues, defendant’s “cumulative error” argument was without merit) (citations omitted). Furthermore, the three additional purported “errors” Appellant sets forth in his argument are not, in fact, errors that deprived Appellant of a fair trial.

First, Appellant asserts that the State asked an “improper and extremely prejudicial” question of a witness where this question called for hearsay exceeding the “time and place” limitations of Rule 801(d)(1)(D), SCRE. (See Brief of Appellant, p. 15-16). It is indeed true that the solicitor asked a question of the victims’ mother that would have called for improper hearsay regarding the identity of the perpetrator; however, defense counsel’s immediate objection to the question was sustained and the solicitor rephrased her subsequent questions to meet the requirements of Rule 801(d)(1)(D). (See R. p. 149, line 22 – p. 150, line 10). Therefore, *no testimony came in* in response to the improper question. (See R. p. 149-50). Accordingly, there was no error and no resulting prejudice.⁹ *See State v. Benning*, 338 S.C. 59, 63-64, 524 S.E.2d 852, 855 (Ct. App.

⁹ Notably, although defense counsel objected to the solicitor’s improper question, he did not make a motion for mistrial or argue that Appellant was prejudiced by the question. (See R. p. 149-50). In that vein, there could be no real prejudice from the solicitor asking this question of the victims’ mother where Victim 1 had

1999) (the mere asking of an improper question is not prejudicial where no evidence is introduced as a result of it) (citations omitted); State v. Watts, 320 S.C. 377, 384, 465 S.E.2d 359, 364 (Ct. App.1995) (where objectionable questions result in no introduction of evidence, defendant suffers no prejudice); see also Gainey v. Tyner, 259 S.C. 629, 631, 193 S.E.2d 525, 526 (1972) (asking of an improper question did not result in prejudice where the witness's response to the question, after the trial judge overruled counsel's objection, was "I don't know").

Second, Appellant argues that the State improperly bolstered the credibility of Victim 2 by asking the forensic interviewer for her opinion regarding the disclosure of Victim 2. (See Brief of Appellant, p. 16-18). Appellant contends that, in spite of the trial court's ruling "den[ying] the State's request to ask the forensic interviewer about her finding the Minor Child 2's disclosure compelling," the State asked the question anyway and the forensic interviewer responded. (See Brief of Appellant, p. 17). However, critically, Appellant's argument in this regard confuses Appellant's objection to testimony about *Victim 1's* disclosure with the subsequent testimony about *Victim 2's* disclosure.

While the forensic interviewer, Ms. Galloway-Williams, was testifying before the jury, Appellant raised an objection to the solicitor's question asking whether or not she conducted a forensic interview with Victim 1, the female child. (See R. p. 263). Outside the presence of the jury, Appellant explained that he objected to any mention of a forensic interview of Victim 1 because the relevant statute (S.C. Code § 17-23-175, regarding the admission of forensic interviews of children under age twelve) did not allow for admission of forensic interviews of children age twelve and older. (See R. p.

already testified that she told her mother that Appellant sexually abused her. (See R. p. 70-78).

263-64). Counsel also moved for a mistrial on this ground. (R. p. 264-65). In response, the solicitor pointed out that she was not seeking to admit Victim 1's forensic interview tape and that S.C. Code § 17-23-175 did not preclude general testimony about a forensic interview being conducted. (See R. p. 265, lines 11-23). The solicitor indicated that she was seeking to introduce a prior consistent statement made by Victim 1 to Ms. Galloway-Williams in the forensic interview in order to respond to defense counsel's cross-examination of Victim 1. (See R. p. 265-66; p. 275-76). The solicitor also stated that she would like to introduce Ms. Galloway-Williams' "time and place" testimony and her testimony regarding her opinion of Victim 1's disclosure. (See R. p. 265-70). Defense counsel reiterated his objections pursuant to S.C. Code § 17-23-175. (See R. p. 270-81). He also objected to Ms. Galloway-Williams' testimony regarding whether Victim 1's disclosure was "compelling or not" because her opinion regarding *Victim 1's* credibility "is simply this witness vouching for the credibility of another witness, and that's improper." (R. p. 280-81).

The trial judge denied Appellant's motion for mistrial and concluded that the solicitor could ask Ms. Galloway-Williams about Victim 1's disclosure as to time and place only. (R. p. 278-82). The judge ruled that the solicitor could not ask the witness about any prior consistent statements of Victim 1 and could not ask Ms. Galloway-Williams about whether *Victim 1's* disclosure was compelling. (See R. p. 279-82).

Subsequently, Ms. Galloway-Williams testified regarding "time and place" with respect to the disclosures of both Victim 1 and Victim 2. (See R. p. 285-91). She also testified, **without objection**, that *Victim 2's* disclosure was "compelling" in that he was "able to provide both those core and contextual details about what he was describing."¹⁰

¹⁰ Notably, on cross-examination, defense counsel established that so-called "compelling disclosures"

(R. p. 291-92). The solicitor then introduced the videotape of Victim 2's forensic interview over defense counsel's objection. (R. p. 292, lines 7-24).

As illustrated above, at no point did Appellant object to any testimony about Ms. Galloway-Williams' opinion regarding *Victim 2's* forensic interview. Therefore, contrary to Appellant's suggestion, the solicitor did not violate the trial judge's previous ruling by asking about Victim 2's disclosure. Regardless, because this ground of alleged error is unpreserved for appellate review, it cannot be bootstrapped to Appellant's "cumulative error" argument. See State v. Burton, 326 S.C. 605, 609, 486 S.E.2d 762, 764 (Ct.App.1997) ("Failure to object when the evidence is offered constitutes *a waiver of the right to object.*") (emphasis added); State v. Hoffman, 312 S.C. 386, 393, 440 S.E.2d 869, 873 (1994) ("A contemporaneous objection is required to properly preserve an error for appellate review."); State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 421, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011) ("This Court, however, has routinely held the plain error rule does not apply in South Carolina state courts. Instead, a party must have a contemporaneous and specific objection to preserve an issue for appellate review.") (citation omitted); State v. Passmore, 363 S.C. 568, 586, 611 S.E.2d 273, 283 (Ct. App. 2005) (where issue is not preserved for appellate review, the appellant must seek redress through the avenue of post-conviction relief); compare State v. McEachern, 399 S.C. 125, 149-50, 731 S.E.2d 604, 616-17 (Ct. App. 2012) (defendant argued that "the cumulative prejudice should be evaluated in light of other improper comments and arguments by the solicitor, *as to which objections were sustained*") (emphasis added); and State v. Peterson, 287 S.C. 244, 246, 335 S.E.2d 800, 801 (1985) (in case where the Supreme Court held that the "combination of numerous errors committed by the trial court in this death penalty case

could turn out to consist of false allegations and that Ms. Galloway-Williams' determination of whether or not a disclosure was "compelling" was subjective to her. (R. p. 304-305; see also p. 298-314).

compels us to reverse and remand for a new trial,” and one of the alleged errors was not preserved for appellate review, the court noted that it would review the record regarding this error only because of the doctrine of *in favorem vitae* review in capital cases which was still in use at that time), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Torrence*, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991) (abolishing *in favorem vitae* review in capital cases).

Finally, Appellant argues that the State improperly vouched for the credibility of the victims in its closing argument. (See Brief of Appellant, p. 18-19). This issue was also not preserved for appellate review because Appellant interposed no contemporaneous objection when the allegedly improper comments were made. (See R. p. 376-79). *See, e.g., State v. Hawkins*, 310 S.C. 50, 61, 425 S.E.2d 50, 56 (Ct. App. 1992) (where no contemporaneous objection or mistrial motion was made at the time of the allegedly improper closing argument, the defendant was precluded from raising the issue on appeal); *In re McCracken*, 346 S.C. 87, 93, 551 S.E.2d 235, 238 (2001) (“Next, appellant argues that the State's closing argument was improper. Appellant interposed no contemporaneous objection to the argument and thus no issue regarding it is preserved for appellate review.”). Therefore, as with the previous issue, Appellant cannot bootstrap this unpreserved ground of alleged error to his cumulative error argument. *See supra*, p. 27.

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